IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES DOUGLAS COURTER,

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

The Honorable John Antosz

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

HAILEY L. LANDRUS, Of Counsel KRISTINA M. NICHOLS Nichols Law Firm, PLLC Attorneys for Appellant P.O. Box 19203 Spokane, WA 99219 (509) 731-3279 Wa.Appeals@gmail.com

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

James Courter appeals his convictions for Hit and Run – Injury and DUI – BAC Refusal, arguing that neither conviction is supported by substantial evidence. Mr. Courter also contends that the trial court erroneously admitted cumulative and prejudicial photographic evidence. He further argues that, because the trial court admitted his BAC refusal for the limited purpose of proving refusal, the court erred by failing to give the jury a limiting instruction, defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to request or propose a limiting instruction, and the prosecutor committed misconduct by encouraging the jury to consider the evidence as proof of guilt.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erroneously admitted unnecessarily cumulative and prejudicial photographic evidence of the traffic collision. (Exhibits 3 through 10)
- 2. The State failed to prove each element of the crime of DUI BAC Refusal.
- 3. The State failed to prove each element of the crime of Hit and Run.
- 4. The trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury on the limited purpose of the refusal evidence.
- 5. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to request or propose a limiting instruction regarding the refusal evidence.

6. The prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument by arguing that Mr. Courter's refusal to submit to a blood test was evidence that he was guilty of DUI.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the trial court erroneously admitted unnecessarily cumulative and prejudicial photographic evidence of the traffic collision? (Exhibits 3 through 10)
- 2. Whether the State produced sufficient evidence that Mr. Courter was under the influence of intoxicating liquor or affected by intoxicating liquor at the time of driving his motor vehicle?
- 3. Whether the State produced sufficient evidence that Mr. Courter failed to stop and remain at the scene of the collision and provide required information?
- 4. Whether the trial court should have issued a limiting instruction on the BAC refusal evidence when it state, *sua sponte*, that it would?
- 5. Whether defense counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to request or propose a limiting instruction?
- 6. Whether the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument by arguing that Mr. Courter's BAC test refusal was evidence that he was guilty of DUI.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On a dark, rainy evening on December 12, 2013, James Courter got home from work at 5:45 p.m., began drinking a beer, and was about to relax in his hot tub when his son called, asking for a ride. 3RP 143.

Without finishing the beer, Mr. Courter got in his Jeep Grand Cherokee and drove southbound on Hansen Road in Moses Lake, Washington. 1RP

2

¹ Trial occurred August 7-9, 2013. 1RP refers to proceedings on August 7th. 2RP refers to proceedings on August 8th. 3RP refers to proceedings on August 9th.

69; 2RP 30; 3RP 143. Around 6:00 p.m., he rounded a bend and, two seconds later, collided with a Toyota Corolla that was crossing a poorly-lit intersection on Hansen Road after having stopped at a stop sign. 1RP 68, 72, 85; 2RP 26, 56, 84, 87; 3RP 125, 144. Neither driver saw the other vehicle before the collision. 2RP 56, 59; 3RP 144.

Mr. Courter stopped his Jeep approximately 100 feet from the scene of the accident. 1RP 74, 77; 2RP 28. He got out and walked away from his vehicle twice, once to throw something over the shoulder of the road toward the highway. 1RP 77-79. Both times he returned to his vehicle. 1RP 77-79.

The collision caused extensive damage to both vehicles. 1RP 92, 94; 2RP 28, 32-42, 108; Exhibits 3-10. Mr. Courter's Jeep had sustained front end damage and was missing its front bumper. 1RP 94. The Jeep's airbag had also deployed. 3RP 147. The other driver's Toyota sustained a large amount of body damage to the front passenger side, and the interior was a mess of broken parts and a deployed airbag. 1RP 92.

The collision also injured all three individuals involved. Mr. Courter injured his neck; mentally, he was "in and out." 3RP 146. The Toyota's driver suffered back strain, a hyper-extended collar bone, and a cut to the palm of her right hand. 2RP 57. The Toyota's passenger injured her thigh, knee, chest, and rotator cuff. 2RP 89-90.

Sergeant Brian Jones photographed the drivers' vehicles. 2RP 28, 35. He also photographed a box of beer and four unopened beer cans inside the box, which he found on the side of the road behind a bush near Mr. Courter's Jeep. 1RP 104-05; 2RP 42-43. The box of beer belonged to Mr. Courter and had been left over from a fishing trip a few weeks earlier. 3RP 148.

Washington State Trooper Phil Jesse arrived shortly after the collision. 2RP 107. He found Mr. Courter walking around his Jeep. 2RP 108. Mr. Courter said he had been driving down Hansen Road and a car pulled out in front of him. 2RP 111. The trooper observed the odor of intoxicants coming from Mr. Courter and initiated a DUI investigation. 2RP 112-13, 141. He tried administering the horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test. 2RP 142-43. Mr. Courter kept moving his head, so the trooper could not complete the test. 2RP 144-45. Trooper Jesse attempted no further field sobriety tests because he handcuffed Mr. Courter for ignoring commands to stop putting his hands in his pockets to search for chap stick. 2RP 145. The trooper then arrested Mr. Courter for driving under the influence of alcohol and transported him to the hospital. 2RP 147, 149-50. On the way, Mr. Courter said he drank a couple of beers earlier that day. 2RP 150.

At the hospital, the trooper read Mr. Courter implied consent warnings. 2RP 153. According to the trooper, Mr. Courter said he understood the warnings but refused to submit to a blood test. 2RP 156. He told the trooper he drank a couple of beers a little after 2 p.m. 2RP 157, 159. Trooper Jesse believed Mr. Courter "was under the influence of alcohol." 2RP at 161. According to the trooper, "[w]ithout determining all of the factors and not knowing what his blood alcohol level is, he probably should not have been driving...," based on the collision, the odor of intoxicants, and his demeanor. 2RP at 161.

Mr. Courter knew he had been in a car accident but never approached the Toyota and did not remember anyone involved in the collision or the investigation afterward. 3RP 149, 154. He recalled only bits and pieces of conversations he had. 3RP 149. He did not recall signing any papers, receiving implied consent warnings, or the trooper asking him for a blood sample. 3RP 151-52.

The State charged Mr. Courter with hit and run with an injury and with driving under the influence with a DUI-BAC refusal enhancement.

CP 26-27.

At trial, the court admitted twelve photographs of the collision scene over defense counsel's objection. 2RP 11, 18-21, 32, 36. Exhibit 3 was a photograph of the position of the Toyota Corolla after the collision.

2RP 15. Exhibit 4 was a photograph of the Toyota from another angle, showing medics attending to the occupants. 2RP 15, 36. Exhibit 5 depicted the damage to the front passenger side of the Toyota and the deployed airbag. 2RP 15, 37. Exhibit 6 was a close-up of the photograph in Exhibit 5. 2RP 16, 39. Exhibit 7 showed that the Toyota's passenger door had been removed. 2RP 16, 39. Exhibit 8 depicted the interior front compartment of the Toyota. 2RP 17, 40.

Exhibit 9 showed the Jeep Cherokee and the damage to it in the foreground and other vehicles in the background. 2RP 41. Exhibit 10 showed the Jeep Cherokee's extensive damage and its location compared to the white fog line. 2RP 17, 41.

Exhibit 11 was a photograph of an open case of beer off in the distance. 2RP 17, 42. Exhibit 12 was a close-up of the box of beer behind a bush. 2RP 17, 43. Exhibit 13 was a photograph of the inside of the box. 2RP 17, 43. Exhibit 14 depicted the contents of the box – four unopened cans of beer. 2 RP 17, 44.

Defense counsel argued that all of the photographs should have been excluded as cumulative and overly prejudicial, except for two photographs of the Toyota, one photograph of the Jeep, one of the beer box, and one of the beer cans. 2RP 19. The court decided the photographs were not cumulative, the number of photographs offered was

typical, the State claimed reasons for each individual photograph, and each photograph had the distinct and strong possibility of being helpful to the jury on different elements at issue. 2RP 20-21.

The trial court also admitted Mr. Courter's refusal to submit to the BAC test for the express purpose of proving the refusal enhancement, but not for evidence of guilt. 1RP 23-32. It indicated that it would give the jury a limiting instruction if it decided to admit the refusal as proof of guilt. 1RP 32. No instruction was ever given, and defense counsel did not request or propose one. CP 144-60. The State, nevertheless, relied on Mr. Courter's refusal of the BAC test as proof that he was guilty of DUI:

So number one, that the Defendant drove a motor vehicle. Two, that the Defendant at the time of the driving a motor vehicle was under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor. Now, how do we know that?

. .

Look at the Defendant's actions. . .

[W]hen Trooper Jesse took the Defendant to the hospital, went through, read him his rights, that would have been -- that would have been a good time if somebody hadn't been drinking or maybe just had a few sips to go ahead and take that test. The Trooper says ... if you refuse to take this test, you're going to lose your license for a year. And the fact that you refused, it is going to be used against you in court later on. And right there with the chance to put up or shut up, the Defendant said "No, I don't want to take that test."

And that's -- that's something you can consider. Why didn't the Defendant want to take that test? Well, he knew how much he had to drink that day.

3RP 198-200.

The jury found Mr. Courter guilty of Hit and Run and DUI, and it returned a special verdict, finding that Mr. Courter refused the BAC test. CP 161-63.

Mr. Courter appeals. CP 165.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erroneously admitted unnecessarily cumulative and prejudicial photographic evidence of the traffic collision.

The trial court erred by admitting Exhibits 3 and 5 through 10, photographs of the traffic collision, as cumulative proof that Mr. Courter was involved in an accident. The admission of photographs is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Sargent*, 40 Wn. App. 340, 347, 698 P.2d 598 (1985).

Under ER 403, otherwise relevant evidence may be excluded if "its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."

The State does not have "'carte blanche to introduce every piece of admissible evidence' when the cumulative effect of that evidence is inflammatory and unnecessary." *State v. Whitaker*, 133 Wn. App. 199, 227, 135 P.3d 923 (2006) (quoting *State v. Crenshaw*, 98 Wn.2d 789, 807,

659 P.2d 488 (1983)). Appellate courts will reverse the trial court's decision to admit photographs if "it is clear from the record that the primary reason to admit gruesome photographs is to inflame the jury's passion." *Whitaker*, 133 Wn. App. at 227.

Here, the Court admitted State's Exhibits 3-10, which the State allegedly used to prove that "the defendant's vehicle was involved in an accident." CP at 100; 3RP 189. Exhibits 3 through 8 showed damage to the Toyota, medics attending to the Toyota's occupants, and what the car looked like after the Jaws of Life were used to extract the passenger. Exhibits 9 and 10 showed damage to the front end of Mr. Courter's Jeep. The prosecutor published these exhibits to the jury during the State's case in chief and closing argument by projecting the photographs onto the wall. 2RP 32, 36; 3RP 189. In closing, the prosecutor projected Exhibit 7 (a photograph of the Toyota) to remind jurors that "the door had been removed by using the Jaws of Life. The fire department had to free Ms. Jensen from the vehicle." 3RP 189. He then projected Exhibit 8, "showing the extensive damage to the interior [of the Toyota]." 3RP 189. He argued that Exhibit 8 "tells us two things. One, this vehicle was involved in a crash, and, two, it was – this was a pretty significant crash." 3RP 189. The prosecutor then assured the jurors that the photographs would be available during deliberations. 3RP 189.

Hit and run requires the State to prove that *the defendant* was involved in an accident. CP 154 (Instruction 8). But Mr. Courter was not driving the Toyota. He was driving the Jeep. Six photographs of the Toyota showed the Toyota, not Mr. Courter, was in an accident. Based on the facts of the case and the prosecutor's closing argument, it is clear that the State's primary purpose for submitting the photographs of the Toyota at trial and in closing was to inflame the jury's passions by showing photographs of the other driver's vehicle, which had been torn apart by the Jaws of Life, and medics attending to occupants of the other vehicle.

All eight of the State's witnesses and Mr. Courter testified that he was involved in a car accident – the same information gleaned from these photographs in a non-prejudicial manner. The photographs of the Toyota were merely cumulative evidence of the undisputed testimony and only served to inflame the passions of the jury and encourage sympathy for the occupants of the other vehicle. The trial court erred by failing to exclude the photographs under ER 403. Mr. Courter's convictions should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

2. The State failed to prove each element of the crime of DUI where there is insufficient evidence that Mr. Courter was under the influence of intoxicating liquor or affected by intoxicating liquor at the time of driving.

Mr. Courter's DUI conviction must be reversed because it is not supported by sufficient evidence that he was under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor at the time of the collision.

This Court reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence by analyzing whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and after drawing all reasonable inferences therefrom. *State v. Perebeynos*, 121 Wn. App. 189, 192-93, 87 P.3d 1216 (2004).

An inference is "a logical deduction or conclusion from an established fact." *Fannin v. Roe*, 62 Wn.2d 239, 242, 382 P.2d 264 (1963). But "[w]hen the inference of a[n] [essential] fact . . . has no evidentiary basis, . . . a jury, may not *speculate* as to the existence of the essential fact—the word 'speculate' being here used in the sense of reaching a conclusion by theorizing upon assumed factual premises outside of and beyond the scope of the evidence." *Brawley v. Esterly*, 267 S.W.2d 655, 659 (Mo. 1954); *State v. Hutton*, 7 Wn. App. 726, 728, 502 P.2d 1037 (1972).

A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor if he drives a vehicle while "under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor." RCW 46.61.502(c). A driver is affected by intoxication if his "ability to handle an automobile was lessened in an appreciable degree by the consumption of intoxicants." *State v. Wilhelm*, 78 Wn. App. 188, 193, 896 P.2d 105 (1995). The issue is not whether Mr. Courter drank alcohol. The issue is whether, at the time of the accident, Mr. Courter was under the influence of the amount of alcohol that he had consumed. *State v. Hurd*, 5 Wn.2d 308, 316, 105 P.2d 59 (1940). Circumstances must be proved and not assumed to establish this element. *State v. Donckers*, 200 Wn. 45, 93 P.2d 355 (1939).

The evidence does not support a finding that Mr. Courter was under the influence of alcohol at the time of the accident. The record shows Mr. Courter either (1) drank less than one beer right before driving, or (2) drank two beers between 2:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m. At best, the record supports a finding that Mr. Courter drank a total of two beers before the collision. The drinking occurred over four hours (between 2:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m.) It is not logical to conclude that Mr. Courter was under the influence of alcohol after consuming two beers in a four-hour period.

The fact that Mr. Courter had four unopened cans of beer in available to him out of an 18-pack in his Jeep does not support an inference that he consumed any particular quantity of alcohol on the night of the collision. It neither supports an inference that he consumed more than acknowledged by witnesses nor an inference that he was under the influence of the quantity consumed. *See Donaldson v. Donaldson*, 38 Wn.2d 748, 754, 231 P.2d 607 (1951).

The most that the presence of the box of beer established was the mere opportunity to drink to excess. "Opportunity alone does not rise to the dignity of proof that a defendant actually committed the act. The opportunity to commit a crime is not a substitute for proof of the commission of a crime." *State v. Uglem*, 68 Wn.2d 428, 438, 413 P.2d 643 (1966) (Rosellini, C.J. dissenting).

The odor of intoxicants on Mr. Courter's breath is insufficient evidence that Mr. Courter was driving under the influence, even when considering the evidence is a light most favorable to the State. The evidence showed Mr. Courter drank, at most, two beers before driving. It is not logical to infer from the presence of the odor of intoxicants Mr. Courter's breath that he drank more than two beers. The odor the officer detected could be present after consuming two beers. Thus, the combination of two beers consumed, the collision, and the odor of

intoxicants does not rise to the level of substantial evidence of driving under the influence of alcohol.

Mr. Courter's speech, language, and inability to follow directions after the collision are not substantial evidence that he was affected by alcohol at the time of the collision either. Mr. Courter received a head injury during the accident. That injury more reasonably explains his speech, language, and inability to follow directions than does his consumption of two beers.

The fact that Mr. Courter hid unopened beer cans is also insufficient evidence that he had been driving under the influence of alcohol. The jury could not have reached the conclusion that Mr. Courter was driving under the influence from this evidence without speculating that Mr. Courter drank more than two beers – a fact that was outside the scope of the evidence.

The only other evidence of Mr. Courter's ability to handle his automobile is the brief moment between coming around a bend and colliding with the Toyota that was crossing a poorly lit intersection at night. Mr. Courter had the right-of-way, and neither driver saw the other vehicle until impact because it was dark, there was a curve just before the intersection, and the intersection was poorly lit. None of this evidence suggests Mr. Courter's consumption of alcohol lessened his ability to

drive. It suggests the lighting, the nature of the road, and weather conditions affected his ability to drive.

Mr. Courter's refusal to submit to a BAC test was not evidence that could be relied on in this trial to establish that the defendant was under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor. It is generally true that a person's refusal to submit to a test of the alcohol concentration in the person's blood under RCW 46.20.308 "is admissible into evidence at a subsequent criminal trial..." to infer guilt or innocence of DUI. RCW 46.61.517; *State v. Long*, 113 Wn.2d 266, 272, 778 P.2d 1027 (1989). Here, however, the trial court specifically stated that is was only admitting Mr. Courter's refusal for the sole purpose of proving the State's special allegation. This evidence was not admitted to prove Mr. Courter's guilt of the underlying DUI charge.

Because Mr. Courter's refusal was not admitted as proof that he was under the influence of alcohol, and because the other evidence does not support a finding that Mr. Courter's driving was affected by intoxicating liquor, the State failed to produce sufficient evidence that Mr. Courter was guilty of DUI. His DUI conviction and the special verdict finding must be dismissed.

3. The State failed to produce sufficient evidence of Hit and Run – Injury– where the evidence shows Mr. Courter stopped and remained at the scene and provided required information.

The State also failed to produce sufficient evidence of the essential elements of Hit and Run - Injury. There was not sufficient evidence that Mr. Courter failed to immediately return to and remain at the scene where he gave the statutorily required information.

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