NO. 31890-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JAMES DOUGLAS COURTER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Grant County The Honorable John Antosz

No. 12-1-00672-8

Brief of Respondent

D. ANGUS LEE Prosecuting Attorney

By

Joseph S. Brown Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA # 45283

P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823 PH: (509) 754-2011

2. Facts

On December 13th, 2012, a dark, overcast evening, the Defendant was travelling south on Hansen Road in Moses Lake, WA towards the intersection of North Frontage Road and Hansen Road at an estimated speed higher than forty-five miles per hour (mph) in a thirty-five mph zone. 1RP 68-72; 2RP 30. Simultaneously, Elsa Jensen and Ellen Russell, while heading to a kennel club Christmas dinner, were stopped at a stop sign on North Frontage Road facing west. Ms. Jensen was driving, and Ms. Russell was a passenger. 2RP 53-54. Ms. Jensen pulled her vehicle into the intersection of North Frontage Road and Hansen Road. 1RP 68. The frontend of the Defendant's vehicle collided with the passenger side of Ms. Jensen's vehicle in the middle of the intersection. 1RP 72. The Defendant's vehicle traveled an estimated one hundred to five hundred feet away from the scene of the accident. 1RP 102; 2RP 28. 3RP 116.

Bob Richardson witnessed the crash. 1RP 72. At the time of the accident, Mr. Richardson was in his vehicle on the I-90 exit ramp, which

³ RCW 46.61.5055

runs parallel to N. Frontage Road. 1RP 73. Subsequent to the accident, Mr. Richardson went to aid Ms. Russell and Ms. Jensen, but they were already receiving assistance from Miriah Sachs. *Id.* Mr. Richardson then went to check on the status of the Defendant. 1RP 76. When Mr. Richardson approached the vehicle, the Defendant was attempting to start his vehicle. *Id.* The Defendant told Mr. Richardson that he needed to go pick up his child from practice. *Id.* Mr. Richardson told the Defendant that he could not leave. *Id.* The Defendant then exited his vehicle and began walking up the road away from the scene of the accident. *Id.* Mr. Richardson approached the Defendant and persuaded him to not leave the scene. 1RP 77. During this interaction, Mr. Richardson noticed the odor of alcohol on the Defendant. 1RP 78. Also around this time, Ms. Sachs noticed that the Defendant's voice "was very slow and slurred. 3RP 133-134.

Periodically, Mr. Richardson checked to make sure that the Defendant stayed by his vehicle. 1RP 79. At one point, he saw the Defendant throw something over a berm towards the freeway. *Id.* Law enforcement later discovered that the item thrown toward the freeway was a Budweiser eighteen pack of beer with four full beer cans in it. 1RP 105. It was estimated that the beer box was 75 feet west of the Defendant's vehicle. *Id.* The Defendant never approached Ms. Russell, Ms. Jensen, or

- 3 -

Ms. I Russell's vehicle to give them the required information. 1RP 79; 2RP 118.

The crash caused extensive damage to Ms. Russell's vehicle. 1RP 100. The front passenger door was severely caved in, causing the door to push into Ms. Jensen's thigh. *Id.*; 2RP 88. Emergency responders were forced to use the "jaws of life" to extract Ms. Jensen from the vehicle. 1RP 100; 2RP 58. Ms. Jensen sustained injuries to her rotator cuff, extensive bruising along her chest and right thigh, and an aggravation of a recent knee surgery. 2RP 90-91. Ms. Russell sustained a cut on her right palm, a strained back, and a hyperextended collar bone. 2RP 57. Sgt. Jones took numerous photos of crash scene. 2RP 30.

Trooper Jesse of the Washington State Patrol conducted the DUI investigation. 2RP 113. Initially, Trooper Jesse asked the Defendant to provide his license, insurance, and registration. *Id.* The Defendant passed over the registration at least two times. *Id.* Trooper Jesse had to point out to the Defendant the document that he needed. *Id.* In his interaction with the Defendant, Trooper Jesse noticed that the Defendant had a strong odor of intoxicants on him. *Id.* At this time, the Defendant denied consuming any alcohol. *Id.*

Trooper Jesse attempted to conduct the standardized field sobriety tests (SFSTs). 2RP 144. In the horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test, the

- 4 -

first of the three SFSTs, the subject is instructed to not move his or her head during the test. *Id.* Despite these instructions, the Defendant was not able to perform the test without moving his head. *Id.* Trooper Jesse was not able to conduct the other SFSTs because the Defendant continually put his hands in his pockets despite commands to the contrary, causing an officer safety concern. 2RP 145. Trooper Jesse secured the hands of the Defendant, and, with the aid of Sgt. Brian Jones, the Defendant was put into handcuffs. 2RP 146. During this confrontation, the Defendant was slurring his words slightly. 2RP 148. No other SFSTs were conducted, and the Defendant was placed under arrest for DUI. 2RP 149.

Trooper Jesse then attempted to take the Defendant to the Moses Lake Police Department for BAC testing, but the Defendant complained of neck pain. 2RP 149-150. Trooper Jesse then decided to take the Defendant to Samaritan Hospital to determine if the Defendant had any injuries. 2RP 150. On the way to the hospital, the Defendant now admitted to having "a couple of beers." *Id*.

At the hospital, the Defendant was read his implied consent warnings for blood, and he refused to submit to a blood BAC test. 2RP 151-156. In a later DUI interview, the Defendant admitted again to drinking "a couple of beers." 2RP 159. Trooper Jesse testified that, in his opinion, the Defendant was intoxicated, and that he was not safe to be

- :5 -

driving. 2RP 161.

At trial, the Defendant claimed that just prior to leaving his home, he opened his beer but did not finish it. 3RP 143. The Defendant testified that prior to the crash he did not hit the brakes. 3RP 144. Lastly, the Defendant testified that he never went over to Ms. Russell's vehicle and that he was physically able to do so. 3RP 154; 3RP 156.

At trial, the State introduced eleven photographs, which were labeled by the court as Plaintiff's Exhibits 3 through 14. 1RP 14-17. Exhibit 3 shows the position of the Corolla following the collision. 1RP 15. Exhibit 4 shows the position of the Corolla from an angle differing from that in Exhibit 3 and emergency responders tending to the occupants. *Id.* Exhibit 5 shows the position of the vehicle, the side damage to the Corolla, and the deployment of the side curtain airbag. *Id.* Exhibit 6 shows the intrusion into the vehicle below the A-pillar. Id. Exhibit 7 shows the vehicle after the passenger door had been removed. 1RP 16. Exhibit 8 shows the interior of the Corolla, the cabin intrusion, and the damage to the dashboard and interior of the vehicle. 1RP 17. Exhibit 9 shows the Defendant's vehicle, the damage to it, and its position relative to the stop sign behind it. Id. Exhibit 11 shows the beer box in the distance and its spatial relationship to the other items in the photo. Id. Exhibit 12 shows the beer box hidden behind the bush. *Id.* Exhibit shows

- 6 -

the cans of beer that were still in the box. *Id.* Exhibit 14 shows the quantity beers were inside the box. *Id.*

Defense counsel argued that Plaintiff's exhibits 3 through 14 should have been omitted as cumulative and overly prejudicial, except for two photographs of the Toyota, one photograph of the Jeep, one of the beer box, and one of the beer cans. 2RP 19.

The court held that the photographs were not cumulative, stating that the prosecutor had articulated reasons for each photo and that each "has the distinct and strong possibility of being helpful to the jury." 2 RP 20.

Defense counsel also moved to exclude any evidence of the Defendant's refusal to a blood alcohol test. The trial court initially ruled that the refusal evidence could be used to prove the refusal special allegation but reserved on the issue of whether or not the refusal could be used as evidence of guilt. 1RP 28. After further research, however, the court ruled that the refusal could be used as evidence of guilt. 2RP 101.

- C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.
 - 1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT HELD THAT THE PHOTOS WERE MORE PROBATIVE THAN PREJUDICIAL AND NOT NEEDLESSLY CUMULATIVE.

The Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it allowed the

admission of Plaintiff's exhibits 3 through 14 because the exhibits were both cumulative and overly prejudicial. This contention is incorrect.

The admissibility of photographs is generally within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 88, 804 P.2d 577, 596-597 (1991). Accurate photographs are admissible if their probative value outweighs their prejudicial effect. *Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d at 88; ER 403.

Plaintiff's exhibits 3 through 14 were neither cumulative nor overly prejudicial. In order for a jury to convict a defendant, it must find beyond a reasonable doubt that there was an accident that resulted in an injury. RCW 46.52.020(1). Each of the photos was highly probative of this element of the hit and run injury charge.

It is true, as the Defendant argues, that there was no real issue as to whether or not there was an accident or whether the victims sustained injuries; however, the State bears the burden, putting every element into issue. The State is entitled to show the jury evidence that makes the existence of the accident more likely, and that is what it did by showing the photos of the accident. Further, because the existence of an injury is also an essential element of the felonious hit and run count, the State was also entitled to show the photos to demonstrate the severity of the accident. As the severity of the accident rises, so does the likelihood of injuries to the victims. Exhibits 3 through 14 allowed the jury to gauge

- 8 -

the acuteness of the accident, making it highly probative and helpful for the jury.

The Defendant also argues that the photos were designed to inflame the jury's passions; however, the photos were not gruesome in any way. They simply depicted what happened to the vehicles involved in the accident. They do not have the content that could inflame the jury's passions.

Lastly, the Defendant argues that the photos were needlessly cumulative and warrant a new trial. In contrast, the Prosecutor explained to the court how each exhibit was uniquely probative by highlighting that each photo had a different perspective or showed additional spatial relationships between objects of interest. 2RP 14-18. There was a sum total of eleven photos entered into evidence, and counsel for the Defendant stated that it was appropriate to enter four of the photos into evidence, making a difference of only seven photos in a three day felony trial. From this, the Defendant asks for a reversal and a new trial. Even if the photos were cumulative, which the State contends is not the case, they would not carry the unfairness necessary for a new trial.

Further, as noted above, the decision to include or omit photos is left within the discretion of the trial court and is only disturbed if an abuse of discretion is shown. *Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d at 88. The trial court carefully analyzed each of the photos and held that "the prosecutor has articulated reasons for each individual photo. Some of them have

- 9 --

different viewpoints and perspectives. And I think each of these has the distinct and strong possibility of being helpful to the jury on [the] different elements that it had to decide on." 2RP 20. Thus, the State asks the Court to hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the additional seven photos were more probative than prejudicial and not needlessly cumulative.

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S CONVICTION OF THE DEFENDANT FOR DRIVING WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE.

The Defendant argues that that there was not sufficient evidence to support the jury's conviction of the Defendant for driving under the influence. As the trial record demonstrates, this argument has no merit.

2.

When reviewing for sufficiency of the evidence, the court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State to determine whether any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 (2004); *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 338, 851 P.2d 654 (1993); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Challenging the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences from it. *State v. Gerber*, 28 Wn. App. 214, 217, 622 P.2d 888 (1981); *see also State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (holding that all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be interpreted in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant).

Circumstantial and direct evidence are considered equally reliable on review. *Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d at 874. Determinations regarding conflicting evidence or credibility are up to the trier of fact and not subject to review. *Id.* Specifically regarding credibility determinations, the Washington State Supreme Court has held that "great deference" must be given to the trier of fact's determinations because "[i]t, alone, has had the opportunity to view the witness' demeanor and to judge his veracity."

State v. Cord, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985).

In this case, to convict the defendant of driving under the influence, each of the following three elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: ⁴

(1) That on or about December 13, 2012, the defendant drove a motor vehicle;

(2) That the defendant at the time of driving a motor vehicle was under the influence of or affected by intoxicating liquor; and,(3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 156 (Instruction No. 10).⁵

There was sufficient evidence that the Defendant was under the influence submitted to the jury. First, with regards to the Defendant's driving, Mr. Richardson testified that the Defendant was traveling well

⁴ The Defendant does not argue that elements (1) and (3) and the special allegation were not met. The elements were met at trial, however. 1RP 68-72; 2RP 30; 2RP 151-156.

above the speed limit. Second, the Defendant crashed into the victim's car. Third, the Defendant testified that he never hit his breaks. All three of these facts are evidence of intoxication.

On three separate occasions, the Defendant stated that he had consumed three different amounts of alcohol. Initially, he stated he had not been drinking at all. Later, he told Trooper Jesse that he had had a couple of beers. At trial, the Defendant testified that he had only opened a beer but had not had a chance to finish it. These inconsistent positions would cause a trier of fact to not believe the Defendant's testimony.

Several of the trial witnesses testified that the Defendant displayed indicators of intoxication. Trooper Jesse testified that he smelled the odor of intoxicants on the Defendant and that he was slurring his speech slightly. Mr. Richardson also noticed the odor of intoxicants on the Defendant, and Ms. Sachs testified that the Defendant's speech was slow and slurred. Trooper Jesse also testified that the Defendant was not able to follow the instructions for the HGN test and continually puts his hands in his pockets despite commands to the contrary. Lastly, Trooper Jesse testified that in his opinion the Defendant was not safe to drive.

The Defendant also displayed a consciousness of guilt. He attempted to evade suspicion by hiding the beer box. Further, when

⁵ See RCW 46.61.502.

confronted with an opportunity to exculpate himself, he refused to submit to a blood alcohol test.⁶ Both of these items are powerful evidence of guilt.

The Defendant, in his brief, attempts to isolate all of the above pieces of evidence and argue that each piece alone is insufficient for a finding of guilt; however, a jury does not consider each piece of evidence in isolation. The jury looks at the entire body of evidence and makes a decision upon the whole.

The standard or review mandates that the Court view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, and under this standard, there was ample evidence for a rational jury to convict the Defendant. Thus, the State requests this Court to deny the Defendant's second argument.

3. THERE WAS SUFFICENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S CONVICTION OF THE DEFENDANT FOR HIT AND RUN – INJURY.

The Defendant also argues that the State did not produce sufficient evidence for the jury to find the Defendant guilty of hit and run with an injury. This also is incorrect.⁷

To convict Mr. Courter of Hit and Run - Injury, the State had to

⁶ The Defendant argues that this evidence should have been addressed with a limiting instruction. That issue is fully addressed in Argument 4. Briefly, the State argues that no such instruction was necessary because the law clearly allows refusal evidence to infer guilt and because the court denied the Defendant's motion for the limiting instruction.

⁷ Please see the opening discussion of Argument 2 for the applicable sufficiency standard.

prove that Mr. Courter failed to fulfill *any*⁸ of the following duties:⁹

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